IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDERICK MILLER	APPELLANT
V.	NO. 2008-KA-00810-COA
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI	APPELLEE
	<u></u>

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
Justin T Cook, MS Bar No.
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Frederick Miller

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDERICK MILLER

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-00810-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

WHETHER JURISDICTION IN CIRCUIT COURT WAS PROPER WHEN THE MISSISSIPPI YOUTH COURT ACT CLEARLY PROVIDED THAT YOUTH COURT WAS THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTION FOR CRIMES WITH WHICH THE APPELLANT WAS CHARGED.

ISSUE TWO

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF AND ESTABLISH THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME OF ACCESSORY AFTER THE FACT BY LEGALLY COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

ISSUE THREE

WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

ISSUE FOUR

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY AS TO THE ELEMENTS OF MURDER.

ISSUE FIVE

WHETHER THE INDICTMENT WAS FATALLY DEFECTIVE IN FAILING TO NAME THE ALLEGED VICTIM OF THE CRIME OF MURDER, AND THUS NOT ANCHORING THE ALLEGED CRIME OF BEING AN ACCESSORY AFTER THE FACT TO MURDER.

ISSUE SIX

WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS TO POLICE OFFICERS WERE ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI YOUTH COURT ACT, THE FIFTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE 3, SECTION 26, OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION.

ISSUE SEVEN

WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

ISSUE EIGHT

WHETHER THERE WAS CUMULATIVE ERROR THAT DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Frederick Miller, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Attala County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction on one count of accessory after the fact to murder against Frederick Miller, following a trial on March 17th, 2008, the honorable Joseph H. Loper, Circuit Judge, presiding. Miller was subsequently sentenced to five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to the testimony presented at trial, on October 31, 2006, and the early morning hours of November 1, 2006, Jerry Montez Winters (Winters) told Jeremy Stewart (Stewart) that he had been in a wreck. (T. 59). Jerry Winters, Josh Cox, Akeem Miller, and Stewart went to where they were told there was a wreck. (T. 59). Stewart testified that they simply went to the scene and left. (T. 59). Stewart testified that the group then went to Winters' girlfriend's house when Frederick Miller arrived. (T. 60). Winters then asked if someone would take him back to the scene, and Frederick Miller agreed that he would go. (T. 60).

Stewart testified that Winters and Frederick Miller both had gloves. (T. 60). According to Stewart's testimony, Winters, Frederick Miller, and Stewart went back to the scene, and Miller and Winters got out, looked around, and got back in. (T. 61). Stewart admitted on the stand to "not really" knowing what they were going out there to find the second time, ultimately concluding "I think it was the gun." (T. 62).

During cross examination, however, it was revealed that Stewart had never mentioned anything about gloves in his interview with law enforcement officers one week after the incident in question. (T. 63). Stewart further admitted that both times Jerry Winters never mentioned why the group was going to the scene. (T. 64).

Stewart further testified that after the night in question, he drove Jerry Winters to the bus station in Jackson, Mississippi. (T. 66). On cross examination, Stewart again testified that he never knew that he was going to the scene for a gun. (T.67). Stewart also admitted to facing criminal charges as a result of his actions that night. (T. 67).

Kay Robertson, the coroner for Attala County, testified that when she arrived to the scene on Highway 19, she saw a Chevrolet SUV crashed into the woods, (T. 69). Robertson testified that

there was a victim inside who was identified as Chadwick Jackson. (T. 69). Robertson determined that a gunshot wound to the right side of the head was Jackson's cause of death. (T. 70).

Akeem Miller, Frederick Miller's brother, testified that he overheard a conversation between Winters and the Appellant concerning Winters being shorted in a drug transaction. (T. 74). Winters, according to Akeem Miller's testimony, showed him (Miller) a pistol. (T. 74). Akeem testified that he and a few others went with Winters to find Frederick Miller's cell phone, but that Frederick Miller did not go. Akeem testified that the second time they went to the scene, everyone had gloves except for Frederick Miller. (T. 79-80).

On cross-examination, Akeem testified that he never heard Winters tell Frederick Miller they were going to the scene to retrieve the gun. (T. 81). Akeem further testified that nobody had told Frederick Miller what happened or where they were going when he got into the vehicle. (T. 82). Akeem testified that Frederick Miller did not have any of the victim's belongings when they returned and did not participate in the burning of any of the belongings. (T. 83).

Martin Roby ("Investigator Roby"), the chief investigator for the Attalla County Sheriff's Office tesified that he found a firearm at the scene of the crime. (T. 91). Investigator Roby determined that the weapon belonged to Winters. (T. 95)

On cross-examination, Investigator Roby admitted that Frederick Miller never said he knew what was going on before he went to the scene with Winters. (T. 105). Miller, during questioning, stated that he and others were only there for a short while. (T. 110). Investigator Roby also testified that Frederick Miller made no statements that in any way indicated he knew that Winters had killed Jackson. (T. 117). Investigator Roby further testified that there was no physical evidence that Frederick Miller had tampered with anything at the scene. (T. 119).

After calling Investigator Roby, the State rested its case and the defense moved for a directed

verdict. (T. 125). After some consideration, this motion was ultimately denied, and the defense began its case.

The defense called Frederick Miller to the stand to testify on his own behalf. Frederick Miller testified that he had just turned seventeen (17) at the time of the incident. (T. 134). Miller testified that, after he got off work from the Sunflower Grocery Store, he went home and Winters was in his yard. (T. 135). Winters asked him if he could borrow his (Frederick Miller's) cell phone and Miller agreed. (T. 135). Miller then went and checked on his sister and let Winters use his bike. (T. 135).

Miller testified that Winters never told him what he was doing. (T. 136). Miller testified that when Winters returned he looked as if he had seen a ghost, and Winters told him that he had dropped Miller's cell phone. (T. 137). Miller then went inside and when he came back out Winters and his brother, Akeem, were gone. (T. 138). Miller testified that he then went looking for his brother at Winters' girlfriend's house and found them there. (T. 139). No one told Miller anything concerning where they had been, and Winters asked Miller if he wanted a ride. (T. 139). Miller got in the car, and the group rode up Highway 19. (T. 140). Winters pulled off to the side of road and, when they got out of the vehicle, Miller testified he saw a vehicle in the bushes. (T. 140). Miller saw the body in the vehicle and was shocked, because nobody had told him anything. (T. 140). Miller was frightened and returned to the car. (T. 140)

Miller testified that he carried no gloves, and that no one asked him to look for a gun. (T. 141). Miller testified that he did not riffle through the SUV and that he was only at the scene for approximately three (3) minutes. (T. 141). Miller testified that he asked no questions because he feared for his life. (T. 142).

After Miller's testimony, the defense rested its case. The jury deliberated, and returned a

guilty verdict against Miller. (C.P. 48-49, R.E. 6-7). Miller was sentenced to five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of corrections (C.P. 48-49, R.E. 6-8).

On March 28, 2008, the Appellant filed a Motion for JNOV, Alternatively, New Trial. (C.P. 51-54, R.E.8-11). The motion was denied by the trial court on April 9, 2008. (C.P. 55, R.E. 12). On May 6, 2008, feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 56, R.E. 13).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court of Attala county did not have proper jurisdiction over the Appellant's case. The Appellant was seventeen (17) at the time of his alleged offense. Because the maximum sentence that can be imposed for being an accessory after the fact to any crime is five years, Youth Court has original jurisdiction. There is nothing in the record to indicate that this matter was transferred from youth court to circuit court. Therefore, it was improper for the Appellant to be tried in circuit court.

The trial court erred when it failed to grant the Appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The State failed to meet its burden of proof in establishing evidence of the elements of accessory after the fact. Further, the State presented no evidence that there was an actual murder – only that there was a killing. The state presented no evidence that the Appellant in any way knew that Winters had committed the murder. Beyond all this, the State failed to prove that the Appellant intended to render some aid or assistance to Winters when he allegedly went to the scene.

The verdict reached by the jury was also against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The only evidence that the Appellant committed any wrong act was testified to by Jeremy Stewart,

who admitted he was also charged with being an accessory after the fact in the same matter. The State's own witnesses contradicted the story told by Stewart, rendering his testimony incredible.

The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury as to the elements of murder. In order to find that the Appellant had committed the crime of accessory after the fact to murder, the jury must have found that a murder occurred. Without an instruction as to the elements of murder, the jury was left to assume that, just because there had been a killing, the killing was a murder.

The indictment was fatally defective in that it failed to name the alleged victim of the crime of murder. The failure in including a victim left an open indictment with no victim to anchor the Appellant's alleged crime of accessory after the fact to murder.

Statements given to police officers by the Appellant were taken in violation of Mississippi's Youth Court Act. Police officers did inform the Appellant that he had a right to have a parent or guardian present. Furthermore, there is nothing in the record to indicate that law enforcement agents attempted to contact the Appellant's parent or guardian. These statements were also taken in violation of the Appellant's rights under the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 3, Section 26, of the Mississippi Constitution

Furthermore, the Appellant was denied his fundamental constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. Trial counsel's representation fell well below the standards allowed by *Strickland*; therefore, reversal is

Lastly, there was cumulative error that deprived the Appellant of his fundamental right to a fair trial. This cumulative error analysis is greatly affected by the fact that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

WHETHER JURISDICTION IN CIRCUIT COURT WAS PROPER WHEN THE MISSISSIPPI YOUTH COURT ACT CLEARLY PROVIDED THAT YOUTH COURT WAS THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTION FOR CRIMES WITH WHICH THE APPELLANT WAS CHARGED.

i. Standard of review.

Whether the Circuit Court of Attala County had jurisdiction over the Appellant, Frederick Miller, is a question of law. Where questions of law are raised, the applicable standard of review is *de novo*. *Lambert v. State*, 941 So. 2d 804, 807 (Miss. 2006).

ii. The Appellant was a child for the purposes of the Youth Court Statute.

""Child" and "youth" are synonymous, and each means a person who has not reached his eighteenth birthday." **Miss. Code Ann. § 43-21-105(d).** The Appellant, as indicated by the record, was born October 13, 1989. (C.P. 50). The alleged crime committed in this matter occurred on October 31, 2006. This means, at the time of the alleged crime, the Appellant was seventeen (17) years old, and therefore, was a "child" for the purposes of Mississippi's Youth Court statute.

iii. Youth Court had proper original jurisdiction.

When looking at the record it becomes clear that there is nothing indicating that jurisdiction in the Circuit Court of Attala County was appropriate. The Mississippi Youth Court Acts sets forth the standards by which jurisdiction in cases involving children is based. The Mississippi Youth Court Act provides;

- (1) The youth court shall have exclusive original jurisdiction in all proceedings concerning a delinquent child, a child in need of supervision, a neglected child, an abused child or a dependent child except in the following circumstances:
- (a) Any act attempted or committed by a child, which if committed by an adult would be punishable under state or federal law by life imprisonment or death, will

be in the original jurisdiction of the circuit court;

(b) Any act attempted or committed by a child with the use of a deadly weapon, the carrying of which concealed is prohibited by Section 97-37-1, or a shotgun or a rifle, which would be a felony if committed by an adult, will be in the original jurisdiction of the circuit court.

Miss. Code Ann. § 43-21-151.

Where the youth court has exclusive original jurisdiction, juveniles may not be tried as adults in circuit court unless the youth court, in its own discretion, decides to "transfer jurisdiction of the alleged offense or a lesser included offense to the criminal court which would have trial jurisdiction of such offense if committed by an adult." *Blue v. State*, 674 So. 2d 1184, 1230 (Miss. 1996), overruled on other grounds, by *King v. State*, 784 So. 2d 884 (Miss. 2001).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that "when a juvenile is charged with an offense carrying a potential life sentence, such as rape or murder, jurisdiction is vested exclusively in the circuit court and the Youth Court Act is inapplicable." *Smith v. State*, 534 So. 2d 194, 196 (Miss. 1988), citing *Johnson v. State*, 512 So. 2d 1246, 1250 (Miss. 1987). Hence, the determinitve question for this court is whether the Appellant, as an adult, could possibly be sentenced to life in prison for committing the crime of accessory after the fact to murder.

In the case *sub judice*, the Appellant was charged with being an accessory after the fact under **Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-1-5** which provides that, on conviction a person "shall be imprisoned in the penitentiary not exceeding five years, or in the county jail not exceeding one year." **Miss. Code Ann. § 97-1-5.**

Because the crime of being an accessory after the fact and the punishment for which it entails does not fall under the exceptions provided within § 43-21-151, youth court should have original jurisdiction of the instant case.

iv. Conclusion.

The circuit court did not have jurisdiction over the Appellant. The Appellant was seventeen (17) years old at the time of his alleged crime. The crime of accessory after the fact to murder is not one which can result in a sentence of life imprisonment if committed by an adult. Therefore, youth court was the court of original jurisdiction in the instant case. There is nothing to indicate that the charges against the Appellant were properly transferred to circuit court, nor is there any indication that there would be a basis for such a transfer. Therefore, the circuit court of Attala County was without jurisdiction over the Appellant's trial. Consequently, this honorable Court should reverse the Appellant's conviction as improper.

ISSUE TWO

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF AND ESTABLISH THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME OF ACCESSORY AFTER THE FACT BY LEGALLY COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

i. Standard of Review

The standard of appellate review for challenges to the legal sufficiency of the evidence is articulated in *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836 (Miss. 2005). In *Bush*, the Court restated that "the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 843 (citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979)). The Court emphasized that "[s]hould the facts and inferences considered in a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence 'point in favor of the defendant on <u>any</u> element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty,' the proper remedy is for the appellate court to reverse and render." *Id*.

(emphasis added) (citing May v. State, 460 So. 2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984)).

ii. The Appellant was indicted and convicted as an accessory after the fact to murder.

Mississippi Code Annotated 97-1-5 (Supp. 2003) defines accessories after the fact as follows: