IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDERICK MILLER, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0810-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LISA L. BLOUNT
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court has jurisdiction over juveniles who commit felonies on or after their seventeenth birthday pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated section 43-21-151(2). Therefore, the Circuit Court of Attala County properly exercised jurisdiction over Frederick Miller in the prosecution for accessory after the fact of murder. The jury's guilty verdict was supported by legally sufficient evidence. The weight and credibility of the evidence supported the jury's verdict. The indictment was proper having put Miller on notice of the crime for which he was charged.

When questioned by police, Miller was seventeen years old and the suspect of a felony so it was not necessary for a parent to be present during questioning. Miller's statement was properly admitted in evidence. The court properly instructed the jury. Miller's trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel. There was no cumulative error.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED JURISDICTION.

The circuit court has jurisdiction over juveniles who commit felonies on or after their seventeenth birthday. *Ward v. State* 914 So.2d 332, 353 (Miss.App.,2005) In his first assignment of error, Miller claims he "was seventeen years old, and therefore, was a "child" for the purposes of the Mississippi Youth's Court statute" and not subject to the jurisdiction of the circuit court.

Miller was charged with accessory after the fact of murder, which is a felony. Miller was seventeen (17) years old at the time of the crime. (T.135). Mississippi Code Annotated section 43-21-151 provides:

- (1) The youth court shall have exclusive original jurisdiction in all proceedings concerning a delinquent child, a child in need of supervision, a neglected child, an abused child or a dependent child except in the following circumstances:
- (a) Any act attempted or committed by a child, which if committed by an adult would be punishable under state or federal law by life imprisonment or death, will be in the original jurisdiction of the circuit court;
- (b) Any act attempted or committed by a child with the use of a deadly weapon, the carrying of which concealed is prohibited by Section 97-37-1, or a shotgun or a rifle, which would be a felony if committed by an adult, will be in the original jurisdiction of the circuit court; and
- (c) When a charge of abuse of a child first arises in the course of a custody action between the parents of the child already pending in the chancery court and no notice of such abuse was provided prior to such chancery proceedings, the chancery court may proceed with the investigation, hearing and determination of such abuse charge as a part of its hearing and determination of the custody issue as between the parents, notwithstanding the other provisions of the Youth Court Law. The proceedings in chancery court on the abuse charge shall be confidential in the same manner as provided in youth court proceedings.
- When a child is expelled from the public schools, the youth court shall be notified of the act of expulsion and the act or acts constituting the basis for expulsion.
- (2) Jurisdiction of the child in the cause shall attach at the time of the offense and shall continue thereafter for that offense until the child's twentieth birthday, unless sooner terminated by order of the youth court. The youth court shall not have jurisdiction over offenses committed by a child on or after his eighteenth birthday, or over offenses committed by a child on or after his seventeenth birthday where such offenses would be a felony if committed by an adult. (Emphasis added by Appellee.)

Therefore, the Circuit Court of Attala County had proper jurisdiction to decide the charge against Miller. Based on this Court's decision in *Ward*, this assignment of error has no merit.

II. THE JURY'S VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.

In reviewing issues of legal sufficiency, the reviewing court does not "ask itself whether it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bush v. State*, 895 So2d 836, 843 (¶16)(Miss.2005)(quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979)). Rather, the Court will view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and determine whether any rational juror could have found that the State proved each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* The prosecution receives the benefit of all "favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence" when determining if the evidence presented was sufficient to support the verdict. *Smith v. State*, 839 So. 2d 489, 495 (¶12) (Miss. 2003).

Miller argues that there was insufficient evidence regarding the charge of accessory after the fact. The elements of accessory after the fact are: (1) a felony has been committed; (2) the defendant "concealed, received, or relieved any felon, or having aided or assisted any felon, knowing that such person had committed a felony"; and (3) the defendant intended "to enable such felon to escape or to avoid arrest, trial, conviction or punishment, after the commission of such felony." Miss. Code Ann. § 97-1-5 (Rev.2006). *Brown v. State*, --- So.2d ----, 2008 WL 5220647, (Miss.App.,2008).

Akeem, Appellant's brother, testified he overheard Winters tell Miller that someone had been shorting him some money, and that Winters was going to take care of him. Winters showed Akeem his pistol; gave him a phone to hold, told Akeem "he fixing to go take care of the person who shorted him on his money," and then left with Josh Cox and Miller. Winters returned 20 to 30 minutes later breathing hard and acting like he had seen a ghost. Miller and Cox returned also.

In his interview with authorities, Miller said Jerry Winters told him "He was, man, I'm fixing to kill something." Miller told authorities he overhead Winters on the phone talking about drug activity. Winters told him they went back to the crime scene "To look for something that he had dropped." Also Miller

claimed when Winters came to him after the shooting Winters was visibly shaken and "looked like he had seen a ghost." Miller told authorities "I knew he done it." The Mississippi Supreme Court previously held to render one liable as an accessary after the fact he must have had actual knowledge, at the time he relieved or assisted that principal, that the latter had committed a felony, or was an accessary before the fact to a felony; and such knowledge must be personal as distinguished from constructive. Thus, it has been held that if accused had actual knowledge of facts which would give him good reason to believe the person assisted to be guilty of the felony, this will be sufficient. (220 So.2d at 834). Harris v. State, 290 So.2d 924, 926 (Miss. 1974) quoting Matula v. State, 220 So.2d 833 (Miss. 1969).

Miller knew a murder had been committed, as evidenced in his statement to police and his brother's testimony at trial. Miller knew Winters shot Jackson before they left the girlfriend's house and went to the crime scene to look for Winters' gun and other evidence. Miller directly aided Winters in the sense that he tried to locate the murder weapon and other incriminating evidence at the scene in order to avoid arrest, detection, trial, conviction or punishment after commission of the felony in searching for the murder weapon. The evidence was more than sufficient to prove each element of accessory after the fact.

The prosecution receives the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the

The prosecution receives the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence when determining if the evidence presented was sufficient to support the verdict.

Hoye v. State, --- So.2d ----, 2009 WL 175530(Miss.App.,2009).

The crime of accessory after the fact requires that Miller acted with the intent to help a felon escape detection. There was sufficient evidence produced at trial that Miller assisted Jerry Winters in searching for the murder weapon and other incriminating evidence in order to escape or avoid arrest, trial, conviction, or punishment for the murder of Chadwick Jackson. Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational juror could have found that the State proved each element of accessory after the fact. This issue is without merit.

III. THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE JURY'S VERDICT.

In making the determination of whether a verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must view all evidence in the light most consistent with the jury verdict, and we should not overturn the verdict unless we find that the lower court abused its discretion when it denied the motion." Woodard v. State, 765 So. 2d 573, 576 (¶16) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing Veal v. State, 585 So. 2d 693, 695 (Miss. 1991)). "[W]e will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Bush v. State, 895 So. 2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005) (citing Herring v. State, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997)). Therefore, in order for this Court to reverse on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, we would have to "disagree[] with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony." Id.

Accepting as true the evidence favorable to the State requires acceptance of Miller's statement to authorities and the testimony of Akeem that Miller knew before Winters ever left with the gun that he was going to take care of the person who was shorting him drug money; that when Miller showed up like he had seen a ghost and with a stash of marijuana he had killed someone. Accepting as true Stewart's testimony that Miller went to the scene with Winter wearing "chicken plant" gloves and the evidence at the crime scene that showed someone had rummaged through the victim's pockets and vehicle looking for something further implicates Miller. In accepting as true the statements that Miller went to the crime scene with Winters to find the gun he dropped, the State submits it is a most reasonable inference that Miller assisted Winters in order to avoid prosecution for murder.

Therefore, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, there is no abuse of discretion in the trial court's denial of the motion for new trial as the evidence supported the verdict.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY.

"In determining whether error lies in the granting or refusal of various instructions, the instructions actually given must be read as a whole. When so read, if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found." Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 782 (Miss. 1997) (quoting Collins v. State, 691 So.2d 918 (Miss. 1997)). In order to preserve a jury instruction issue on appeal, a party must make a specific objection to the proposed instruction in order to allow the lower court to consider the issue. *Watson v. State*, 483 So.2d 1326, 1329 (Miss. 1986).

Miller argues that the trial court failed to properly instruct the jury as to the elements of murder and cites *Wilson v. State*, 592 So.2d 993 (Miss. 1991) in support thereof. *Wilson* held "For a jury to convict as an accessory before the fact there must be evidence that the defendant "procures, counsels, or commands another to commit a felony for him, but is not himself present, actually or constructively, when the felony is committed." *Sayles v. State*, 552 So.2d 1383, 1389 (Miss.1989). The jury is not permitted to simply assume that the felony was in fact committed. The jury must find beyond a reasonable doubt that the crime was committed and that the defendant counseled or commanded another to commit the crime. *Ray v. State*, 330 So.2d 580, 587 (Miss.1976).

In the case *sub judice* the State presented evidence of the murder of Chadwick Jackson, that Miller knew that murder was committed and then proceeded to assist Winters. The jury was not asked to assume a murder was convicted.

Wilson can also be distinguished in that the defendant objected to the jury instructions at trial. Miller entered his own elements instruction in D-1 but withdrew it to join in the State's elements instruction in S-1 (T. 159-60; C.P. 34, 45). Miller's failure to object to the jury instructions submitted at trial barred him from challenging the jury instruction on appeal. *Johnson v. State*, 757 So.2d 345 (Miss.App.,2000)

In Turner v. State, 573 So.2d at 1343 (Miss.1990), the Mississippi Supreme Court held "... to pass

the minimal threshold of advice to the jury that, before it could find [the defendant] guilty as an accessory before the fact, it also had to find the fact." The *Turner* instruction was primarily accepted because of two words "that occurred" which the court accepted as meeting the "minimum threshold of advice to the jury." In the case *sub judice*, Jury Instruction 3 states "... knowing the said Jerry Montez Winters, had committed a felony, to wit: Murder...". Jury Instruction 3 provides a minimum threshold of advice to the jury. Procedural bar aside, under the holding of *Turner*, the jury was adequately instructed.

Only when a defendant's substantive rights are affected will the plain-error rule be applied. *Dobbins* v. *State*, 766 So. 2d 29, 32 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App.2000). "The plain-error doctrine requires that there be an error and that the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." *Sims v. State*, 919 So. 2d 264, 266 (¶7)(Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (quoting Williams v. State, 794 So. 2d 181, 187 (¶23) (Miss. 2001)(overruled on other grounds)). Given the facts of this case and the evidence presented at trial, there was no manifest miscarriage of justice. This assignment of error is without merit.

V. THE INDICTMENT WAS NOT DEFECTIVE.

Miller contends the Indictment charging him with accessory after the fact of murder is impermissibly vague because it fails to state the name of the individual Winters murdered. Miller was convicted of accessory-after-the-fact to murder.

The Mississippi Supreme Court held in *Hodges v. State*, 912 So.2d 730, (Miss.,2005) that a capital murder indictment charging an underlying felony of burglary with intent to commit an assault was not defective for failure to identify the intended victim of that assault. This Court recognized that "one accused of a crime is entitled to know the specific nature of the allegations against him so that he can prepare his defense, rather than be left guessing as to what specific activity the State contends is a violation of the criminal statute." *White v. State*, 851 So.2d 400, 403(¶ 5) (Miss.Ct.App.2003).

The crime of accessory after the fact is codified at Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-1-5 (Rev.2000). The statute provides that a person is guilty as an accessory-after-the-fact if he has "concealed, received, or relieved any felon, or [has] aided or assisted any felon, knowing that such person has committed a felony, with intent to enable such felon to escape or to avoid arrest, trial, conviction or punishment...." Id. The portion of the indictment charging Miller with accessory after the fact provided, in pertinent part:

On or about the 15th day of February, A.D., 2002, did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously aid JERRY MONTEZ WINTERS to avoid arrest, trial conviction or punishment then and there knowing that he, the said JERRY MONTEZ WINTERS, had wilfully, unlawfully and feloniously committed the felony offense of Murder, by assisting him in attempting to locate the murder weapon and other incriminating evidence left at the crime scene, and that the said FREDERICK B. MILLER, JR. rendered such assistance with the unlawful and felonious intent to enable said felon to avoid arrest, trial, conviction, or punishment after the commission of such felony, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi.

The language of the indictment substantially tracked the statutory definition of the crime.

"The indictment must be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation

against him." *Havard v. State*, 928 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Peterson v. State*, 671 So.2d 647, 653-54 (Miss. 1996)); URCCC 7.06. Additionally, the indictment must contain those factors listed in URCCC 7.06. Id. The seven factors enumerated in URCCC 7.06 include:

- 1. The name of the accused;
- 2. The date on which the indictment was filed in court;
- 3. A statement that the prosecution is brought in the name and by the authority of the State of Mississippi;
- 4. The county and judicial district in which the indictment is brought;
- 5. The date and, if applicable, the time at which the offense was alleged to have been committed. Failure to state the correct date shall not render the indictment insufficient;
- 6. The signature of the foreman of the grand jury issuing it; and
- 7. The words "against the peace and dignity of the state."

Nichols v. State, 955 So.2d 962, (Miss.App., 2007).

Miller's indictment, satisfies the above requirements. The identity of the murder victim is not an essential element of the crime of accessory after the fact and therefore not required to be named in an indictment for accessory after the fact.

VI. MILLER'S STATEMENT TO AUTHORITIES WAS ADMISSIBLE IN EVIDENCE.

Appellant contends the admission into evidence of his statement to law enforcement was reversible error. Appellant argues the statements taken by law enforcement officers were done so in violation of the Mississippi Youth Court Act because authorities failed to advise him of his right to have a parent present. Appellant further contends that he was not informed that there were charges against him or ever told he was a suspect.

The circuit court has jurisdiction over juveniles who commit felonies on or after their seventeenth birthday. *Ward v. State* 914 So.2d 332, 353 (Miss.App.,2005) Miller was seventeen years old at the time of the commission of the crime of accessory after the fact of murder, which is a felony. Pursuant to the law as discussed under Issue I, supra, Miller was investigated and charged with a crime that would remove him from the Youth Court's jurisdiction.

Prior to being questioned by the Attala County Sheriff's Department, authorities advised Miller of his rights; he intelligently, voluntarily and knowingly waived his rights in accordance with *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). (Exhibit S-16). There is no question that Miller was adequately informed of his rights. He was fully apprised of them by Investigator Roby at the outset of the police interrogation and then "intelligently and understandingly declined to exercise them." *United States v. Montos*, 421 F.2d 215, 224 (5th Cir.1970). No constitutional rights were violated. This assignment of error is without merit.

VII. MILLER'S TRIAL ATTORNEY PROVIDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

An appellate court applies the two-prong test of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Miller must prove (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) but for the deficiencies, the trial court outcome would have been different. *Gatewood v. State*, 909 So.2d 754, 756 (¶ 5) (Miss.Ct.App.2005) The court evaluates the totality of the circumstances in determining whether counsel was effective. *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss.1990). There is a strong but rebuttal presumption that counsel's performance fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. *Id.*

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